
Phil Norrey
Chief Executive

To: The Chair and Members of the 
Procedures Committee

(See below)

County Hall
Topsham Road
Exeter
Devon 
EX2 4QD

Your ref : Date : 29 January 2019 Email: karen.strahan@devon.gov.uk
Our ref : Please ask for : Karen Strahan  01392 382264

PROCEDURES COMMITTEE

Wednesday, 6th February, 2019

A meeting of the Procedures Committee is to be held on the above date at 10.30 am in the 
Committee Suite - County Hall to consider the following matters.

P NORREY
Chief Executive

A G E N D A

PART I - OPEN COMMITTEE

1 Apologies for absence  

2 Minutes 

Minutes of the meeting held on 7 November 2018.

3 Items requiring urgent attention 

Items which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered at the meeting as a matter of 
urgency.

MATTERS FOR DECISION

4 Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel - Members Allowances (Pages 1 - 22)

Report of the Independent Members Allowances Remuneration Panel for 2019, attached.

5 Notices of Motion at Council - Consideration of Alternative Ways of Working (Pages 23 - 28)

Report of the County Solicitor (CSO/19/5) outlining how other Authorities deal with Notices of 
Motion and suggestions for alternative ways of working, attached.



6 Cabinet Member Reports - Deadlines for Submission 

The Procedures Committee is asked to consider the current deadlines for submission of requests 
for Cabinet Member reports for the Council meeting and consider bringing it in line with other 
deadlines, for example the submission of questions at four working days before the meeting. 

The current process is outlined below. 

A regular item shall be placed on the agenda of all meetings of the County Council (Standing 
Order 5(1)(k) refers) to enable Cabinet Members to report, save in exceptional circumstances, in 
writing, on: 

 any decisions taken by the Cabinet (i.e. key decisions) or by them under delegated powers 
(i.e. routine matters); and

 any other areas of interest or service related developments relating to his/her remit that 
may have occurred since the previous meeting or are likely to impact on the service in the 
coming months; and

 any other issue or matter specifically requested by a Member (by no later than 12 noon on 
the day before the meeting), which cannot adequately be covered by the opportunity that 
already exists under Standing Orders for Members to submit a Notice of Motion or written 
questions to Cabinet Members or Chairs of Committees relating, particularly, to factual and 
local issues.   

7 Notice of Motion - Heart of the South West Joint Scrutiny Committee (Local Enterprise Partnership) 
(Pages 29 - 32)

Factual Briefing Note provided by the County Solicitor (CSO/19/3) in response to the Notice of 
Motion previously submitted to the Council Meeting on 6 December 2018 and referred to this 
Committee under Standing Order 6(6).

MATTERS FOR INFORMATION

NIL

PART II - ITEMS WHICH MAY BE TAKEN IN THE ABSENCE OF PRESS AND PUBLIC ON THE 
GROUNDS THAT EXEMPT INFORMATION MAY BE DISCLOSED

NIL

Members are reminded that Part II Reports contain confidential information and should therefore be 
treated accordingly.  They should not be disclosed or passed on to any other person(s).
Members are also reminded of the need to dispose of such reports carefully and are therefore invited to 
return them to the Democratic Services Officer at the conclusion of the meeting for disposal.



Membership 
Councillors C Chugg, J Hart, S Hughes, S Aves, F Biederman, A Connett, R Hannaford, N Way and 
C Wright
Declaration of Interests
Members are reminded that they must declare any interest they may have in any item to be considered at 
this meeting, prior to any discussion taking place on that item.
Access to Information
Any person wishing to inspect any minutes, reports or lists of background papers relating to any item on this 
agenda should contact Karen Strahan  01392 382264.  
Agenda and minutes of the Committee are published on the Council’s Website and can also be accessed 
via the Modern.Gov app, available from the usual stores.
Webcasting, Recording or Reporting of Meetings and Proceedings
The proceedings of this meeting may be recorded for broadcasting live on the internet via the ‘Democracy 
Centre’ on the County Council’s website.  The whole of the meeting may be broadcast apart from any 
confidential items which may need to be considered in the absence of the press and public. For more 
information go to: http://www.devoncc.public-i.tv/core/

In addition, anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press and public are 
excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not to do so, as directed by the Chair.  Any 
filming must be done as unobtrusively as possible from a single fixed position without the use of any 
additional lighting; focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting and having regard also to the 
wishes of any member of the public present who may not wish to be filmed.  As a matter of courtesy, 
anyone wishing to film proceedings is asked to advise the Chair or the Democratic Services Officer in 
attendance so that all those present may be made aware that is happening. 

Members of the public may also use Facebook and Twitter or other forms of social media to report on 
proceedings at this meeting.  An open, publicly available Wi-Fi network (i.e. DCC)  is normally available for 
meetings held in the Committee Suite at County Hall.  For information on Wi-Fi availability at other 
locations, please contact the Officer identified above.
Emergencies 
In the event of the fire alarm sounding leave the building immediately by the nearest available exit, following 
the fire exit signs.  If doors fail to unlock press the Green break glass next to the door. Do not stop to collect 
personal belongings, do not use the lifts, do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 
Mobile Phones 
Please switch off all mobile phones before entering the Committee Room or Council Chamber

If you need a copy of this Agenda and/or a Report in another 
format (e.g. large print, audio tape, Braille or other 
languages), please contact the Information Centre on 01392 
380101 or email to: centre@devon.gov.uk or write to the 
Democratic and Scrutiny Secretariat at County Hall, Exeter, 
EX2 4QD.

Induction loop system available

http://www.devoncc.public-i.tv/core/
mailto:centre@devon.gov.uk


NOTES FOR VISITORS
All visitors to County Hall, including visitors to the Committee Suite and the Coaver Club conference and meeting rooms 
are requested to report to Main Reception on arrival.  If visitors have any specific requirements or needs they should 
contact County Hall reception on 01392 382504 beforehand. Further information about how to get here can be found at: 
https://new.devon.gov.uk/help/visiting-county-hall/. Please note that visitor car parking on campus is limited and space 
cannot be guaranteed. Where possible, we encourage visitors to travel to County Hall by other means.

SatNav – Postcode EX2 4QD

Walking and Cycling Facilities
County Hall is a pleasant twenty minute walk from Exeter City Centre. Exeter is also one of six National Cycle 
demonstration towns and has an excellent network of dedicated cycle routes – a map can be found at: 
https://new.devon.gov.uk/travel/cycle/. Cycle stands are outside County Hall Main Reception and Lucombe House 

Access to County Hall and Public Transport Links
Bus Services K, J, T and S operate from the High Street to County Hall (Topsham Road).  To return to the High Street 
use Services K, J, T and R.  Local Services to and from Dawlish, Teignmouth, Newton Abbot, Exmouth, Plymouth and 
Torbay all stop in Barrack Road which is a 5 minute walk from County Hall. Park and Ride Services operate from Sowton, 
Marsh Barton and Honiton Road with bus services direct to the High Street. 

The nearest mainline railway stations are Exeter Central (5 minutes from the High Street) and St David’s and St Thomas’s 
both of which have regular bus services to the High Street. Bus Service H (which runs from St David’s Station to the High 
Street) continues and stops in Wonford Road (at the top of Matford Lane shown on the map) a 2/3 minute walk from 
County Hall, en route to the RD&E Hospital (approximately a 10 minutes walk from County Hall, through Gras Lawn on 
Barrack Road).

Car Sharing
Carsharing allows people to benefit from the convenience of the car, whilst alleviating the associated problems of 
congestion and pollution.  For more information see: https://liftshare.com/uk/community/devon. 

Car Parking and Security
There is a pay and display car park, exclusively for the use of visitors, entered via Topsham Road.  Current charges are: 
Up to 30 minutes – free; 1 hour - £1.10; 2 hours - £2.20; 4 hours - £4.40; 8 hours - £7. Please note that County Hall 
reception staff are not able to provide change for the parking meters.

As indicated above, parking cannot be guaranteed and visitors should allow themselves enough time to find alternative 
parking if necessary.  Public car parking can be found at the Cathedral Quay or Magdalen Road Car Parks (approx. 20 
minutes walk). There are two disabled parking bays within the visitor car park. Additional disabled parking bays are 
available in the staff car park. These can be accessed via the intercom at the entrance barrier to the staff car park.

        NB                                 Denotes bus stops

Fire/Emergency Instructions
In the event of a fire or other emergency please note the following instructions. If you discover a fire, immediately inform 
the nearest member of staff and/or operate the nearest fire alarm. On hearing a fire alarm leave the building by the 
nearest available exit.  The County Hall Stewardesses will help direct you. Do not stop to collect personal belongings and 
do not use the lifts.  Assemble either on the cobbled car parking area adjacent to the administrative buildings or in the car 
park behind Bellair, as shown on the site map above. Please remain at the assembly point until you receive further 
instructions.  Do not re-enter the building without being told to do so.

First Aid
Contact Main Reception (extension 2504) for a trained first aider. 

A J

https://new.devon.gov.uk/help/visiting-county-hall/
https://new.devon.gov.uk/travel/cycle/
https://liftshare.com/uk/community/devon


REVIEW OF MEMBERS 
ALLOWANCES

Independent
 Remuneration Panel

Heather Morgan
Bryony Houlden
STEVE BARRIBALL

FEBRUARY 2019

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



2

Contents Page 

1.0 Background 3

2.0 Events / Activities since the Panel’s Last Report 6

3.0 Representations to Government 7

4.0 Annual Meeting of Chairs and Advisers 8

5.0 Meeting with Group Leaders (14 November 2018) 9

6.0 Feedback from Members of the Council 10

7.0 Devolution Agenda 10

8.0 Comparisons and Benchmarking 11

9.0 Fawcett Report – LGA Response 13

10.0 Councillors Commission 15

11.0 National Census of Local Authority Councillors 2013 17

12.0 Member Development Charter Status Plus 19

13.0 Summary, Conclusions and Recommendations 20

Page 2

Agenda Item 4



3

1.0 Background

1.1 The Panel first reported in March 2000 and have reported every year since 
then, including May 2003 when the first major review was undertaken. Most of 
the Panel’s recommendations have been implemented. During 2015, the 
Panel decided that a second major review of the scheme was required and 
again in 2018, where a third large scale review was undertaken.

1.2 The last few years have seen an unprecedented period of austerity, 
restrictions and budget restraints in Local Government spending which has 
impacted on both staff wages and consequently Members allowances. The 
Panel have kept a close brief on national issues including budgets, policy 
directions, consultations and also the local landscape including allowances 
schemes and the actions of other Local Authorities.

1.3 The last report of the Panel (February 2018) commented on and 
recommended the following:

The Panel concluded that the structure of the Allowance Scheme for 
Devon is fit for purpose and based on sound principles, and that the Basic 
Allowance should be increased.  The Panel conducted a wide-ranging 
review, taking into account the usual benchmarking data, organisational 
structures, Elections outcomes, the impact of Devolution, Cabinet Member 
Remits, the Councillors’ Commission report, the views of Members and 
other relevant factors.

(a) The basic structure of the current scheme is endorsed and retained, 
subject to the change recommended at (c) below;

(b) From May 2018, the Basic Allowance is increased to £12,607 
(which includes the 2% pay award for 2018/2019) and the 
multipliers be recalculated accordingly. 

(c) The SRA payment for the Chair of the Investment & Pension Fund 
Committee be increased by a multiplier of 0.25 to 0.50;

(d) The overnight allowance for Members for outside London, increase 
in line with the staff allowance from £79.82 to £81.06;

(e) The overnight allowances for London increase from £90 to “up to a 
maximum of £143”;

(f) The Guidance for Dependant Carer’s Allowance be amended as set 
out in Appendix 3 of the 2018 Report’;

(g) Careful consideration should be given, in the future, to the levels of 
allowances to ensure they keep pace with the economy generally;

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



4

(h) The sustained reduction, including a reduction in the current year, in 
the number of SRA's be welcomed and that the levels be kept below 
the 50% threshold, as it currently the case;

(i) The Panel keep a watching brief on the Devolution / Combined 
Authority Agenda to assess any impact on allowances; 

(j) Current procedures for performance management could be 
strengthened and that Group Leaders take a robust approach to the 
performance management of their Members.

1.4 The composition of the Panel is:

Heather Morgan – (Chair) Tribunal Judge (since 2002)

Bryony Houlden – Chief Executive of South West Councils (appointed in 
2015)

Steve Barriball – Chief Executive of Citizens Advice, Exeter (appointed in 
2017)

1.5 The Panel’s appointments are until May 2021, having been re-appointed in 
2017 through the Annual meeting of the Council (and via delegated powers 
afforded to Leaders and Whips in the case of the most recent appointment).

1.6 The prime role of the Panel has been to assess the allowances for being an 
elected councillor, representing the diversity of communities that make up 
Devon now and into the future.  The Panel’s contribution has to be to ensure 
that councillors have the financial recognition to fulfil some of the most 
demanding roles that exist in public life. 

1.7 In preparation for this years report, the Chair has maintained regular contact 
with the Council, regularly meeting both the IRP advising officer and then the 
Leader of the Council (on 14th September 2018) to keep abreast of events and 
changes affecting the Council such as planned budget reductions for 2019/20 
and the future funding of the Council with the disappearance of the revenue 
grant by 2020, devolution, the funding difficulties in Children’s Services, Brexit, 
the Business Rates retention Pilot and Staff Pay Award (which was 2% for the 
current year and 2% agreed for 19/20 (two year pay deal). The Chief Officer 
pay award was also 2%.

1.8 The Panel met on 20 August and 14 November 2018 (also meeting with 
Political Group Leaders on the same day), to consider events since the last 
Panel report, the national context, including the LGA response to the Fawcett 
report, comparisons with other authorities, benchmarking data (South West 
Council’s, South East Council’s and National Census data) and potential 
recommendations and content for the final report.

Page 4

Agenda Item 4



5

1.9 The Panel agreed their timetable for the review at their first meeting and this is 
outlined below.

Date 
 
Action

20 August 2018 Panel meeting

14 September 2018 Panel Chair to meet Leader of the Council 

14 November 2018 Panel Meeting

14 November 2018 Panel meeting with Group Leaders

November / December 2018 Draft final report 

20th December 2018 Panel Meeting to consider draft of final report 

Early January 2019 Finalise report based on panel comments

24th January 2019 Final Report for dispatch with Procedures papers

4th February 2019 Procedures Committee

21st February 2019 Council meeting

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



6

2.0 Events Since the Panel’s Last Report

2.1 On a national level, there has been ten years of cuts to public sector funding. 
This has been reflected in many Councils, including Devon, by many budget 
saving initiatives, cuts to services, a number of structural and organisational 
reviews, which was likely to continue up until 2019/2020, with many Councils 
worried about the budget situation beyond 2021. With pressures in areas of 
social care (both children and adults) there are real fears that some 
Authorities will not be able to balance their books.

2.2 The five years from 2010/2011 to 2017/2018 saw the Authority’s actual 
funding reduced by approximately £150 million. Furthermore, there were 
reductions in the region of £30 million for 2018/2019 and savings anticipated 
of £14 million in 2019/20.

2.3 To date, staff reductions have been in excess of 3000 (excluding schools) and 
the Panel noted the various vacancy management processes (undertaken in 
2010/2011), which recommenced in 2014 and then a recruitment freeze for 
part of 2017. From 1 January 2017, any recruitment to vacant posts was 
restricted to those deemed ‘business critical’. More recent initiatives to save 
£5 million (agreed at Cabinet in November 2018) included reducing travel and 
utilising ‘Skype for Business’ for business meetings, restricted conference 
attendance to those essential to roles or part of mandatory training, the end of 
non-essential overtime payments, hospitality lunches, and a two-month gap 
between the last date of a colleague leaving and the post being advertised. 
Other initiatives include staff being able to buy additional leave.

2.4 More recently, the impacts of the BREXIT vote and the process for the UK 
leaving the European Union has implications for the Council in terms of EU 
grants, the pension fund (including valuations and employer contributions) and 
cost of staffing (particularly in the care sector), medium term financial planning 
and the treasury management strategy.

2.5 There was a staff pay freeze from 2009/10 up until 2012/2013. In 2013/2014 
there was a 1% pay increase for ‘public service’ staff but there was no pay 
award for senior officers. For 2014 – 2016 there was a complex pay offer 
which amounted to 2.2% for most staff over a two-year period. Those at the 
lower spinal column point (SCP) were awarded higher percentage rises. The 
pay award for 2016/2017 and 2017/2018 were for staff with salaries starting at 
£17,714 per annum to get a 1% increase in both 2016/17 and 2017/18. Those 
earning less than this would receive higher increases to take account of the 
new National Living Wage. The pay award for 2018/2019 was a two-year deal 
at 2% per year for both the staff and chief officer pay award.  

2.6 The Council is also undertaking a piece of work – a pay and grading working 
group - to review the locally determined grading structure to ensure an 
appropriate fit with the nationally determined SCPs.

2.7 The Panel also noted that on a national level, MP’s received a 1.8% pay rise 
(increasing from £76,011 to £77,379), from April 2018. Annual changes in 

Page 6

Agenda Item 4



7

MPs’ pay are linked to changes in average earnings in the public sector using 
Office for National Statistics (ONS) figures.

2.8 There have been various money saving strategies over the last few years, 
including reductions in the Councils property portfolio, divestment of youth 
services, meals services, day care services, highways maintenance 
reductions, no direct provision of adult residential or day care services, waste 
management, public transport and a new library service. Consultations on 
general service reductions are an ongoing process.

2.9 There have always been budgetary pressures in the ‘People’s (Adult and 
Children’s Services) and the current budget monitoring position is for an 
overspend of some £9 million in Children’s Services. Whilst it is too early to 
predict the end year forecast, especially with winter pressures across many 
service areas, the issues being experienced in Children’s Services with high 
levels of demand and residential placements proving difficult to contain within 
the budget seemed to be consistent with other Local Authority experiences.

2.10 The Panel were previously concerned that the levels of allowances had 
become ‘too far removed’ from the figures originally proposed back in 2009 
when allowances were frozen. The Panel kept a record of allowance rates and 
what the allowances would have been if the mean wage increases (up to 
2010) and staff increases (from 2010 to the current day) had been applied. 
The Panel were therefore pleased that the Council accepted their 
recommendations from the 2018 review. 

2.11 The Devon County Council Elections in May 2017 did not result in any change 
of political administration. However, there was a decrease of 2 Members 
(following a Boundary Commission for England Review), an increased 
Conservative majority (from 38 to 42) and the loss of the UKIP group on the 
Council (resulting in 1 less SRA).

2.12 The Council also reviewed its Committee Structure which resulted in a change 
to the structure of the Scrutiny Committees, changing from four Scrutiny 
Committees to three Committees, thereby achieving 2 further reductions in the 
numbers of SRA payments (1 Chair and 1 Vice Chair SRA).

2.13 The current figure in relation to the percentage of Members receiving an SRA 
payment is 43%, the same as the previous year. Prior to the elections, the 
figure was 47%. The reduction was largely due to the Scrutiny Committee re-
organisation and with a reduction of two Members of the Council, the 
reduction, in real terms, is slightly more than 5%. 

3.0 Representations to Government 

3.1 Following the recommendations of the Panel in 2018 and the subsequent 
agreement of the Council that allowances be increased, the Council also 
agreed to write to the Minister to lobby Government for a national framework 
for the determination of Members Allowances.

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



8

3.2 The letter outlined the concerns of the Independent Remuneration Panel that 
allowances have managed to become ‘out of kilter’ following such a lengthy 
period of time with no increase. Also, that it was important to be able to attract 
and support candidates of different ages and gender to better reflect and / or 
represent diverse communities.

3.3 It also highlighted the position of Councillors who were uncomfortable in 
setting their own allowances.

3.4 The representations highlighted the view of the Council that there was merit in 
a national framework, setting guiding principles for Members’ allowances. This 
might include recommended minimum levels for each type and size of 
authority. Whilst it would not inhibit individual authorities from taking account 
of local circumstances (and retain the option of setting up independent 
panels), national principles could lead to a more temperate understanding of 
allowances issues among the general public. 

3.5 The Panel were aware this was raised previously (in the 2008 Councillors 
Commission Report ‘Representing the Future’) and that there may be a further 
piece of working arising from the more recent Commission chaired by 
Professor Colin Corpus, in terms of additional research and discussion with 
the LGA to ascertain the time spent on Councillor duties, the impact of 
allowances and whether current processes were fit for purpose.

3.6 The letter was sent in May 2018 and a response received on 21st June 2018 
from the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government, which 
outlined that whilst the Government recognised the crucial role that 
Councillors played in enabling democracy across England, they were not 
minded to change the current framework, highlighting their view that the 
current arrangements were appropriate.

4.0 Annual Meeting of Panel Chairs and Advisers 

4.1 Whilst this meeting had not taken place for a couple of years, due to the 
retirement of Mr Graham Russell (the organiser of this event, but funded by 
South West Councils) in 2016, it was pleasing that the meeting in 2018 was 
arranged by South West Councils and hosted by Devon County Council.

4.2  The meeting took place on 19 June 2018 and discussed the following issues.

 The outcome of the 2015 Local Government Review from North Somerset 
Council IRP where the Council had reduced from 60 to 50 members to 
lower the cost of democracy.  As a result, the IRP had recommended an 
increase in allowances but Councillors were not comfortable to accept 
therefore voted against the increase.  

 The position from other Local Authorities was mixed, for example, Exeter 
City Council accepting an increase, Gloucester/Tewkesbury being very 

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



9

much data driven and allowances frozen year on and year with no issues, 
Teignbridge District Council accepted inflation increases approximately 
three years ago and Cheltenham Borough Council accepting that basic 
allowances would increase in line with annual Local Government pay 
settlements.

 Member Induction and how Councils undertook and disseminated pre-
election information. Comments from colleagues included retention, rather 
than allowances, being an issue, use of the Be a Councillor Campaign 
publicity information, the lack of pension for Councillors was perceived as 
a  backward step, timings of meetings could be a key issue if councillors 
were employed in other jobs, the use of exit interviews, the South West 
Charter for Member Development, which supported Councils in adopting a 
structured approach to councillor development and support, and to building 
elected Member capacity, the importance of a diverse mix of councillors 
representing a local authority and the difficulties recruiting people to IRP’s.

 Devon County Council reported the activities and work by the Panel on 
Carers Allowances which had allowed nursery provision to become more 
flexible. ‘Reasonable costs’ might be reimbursed (meaning Members could 
claim the ‘fixed cost’ of a session or sessions (am or pm or both) which 
covered, in whole or in part, the period of any specific approved duty 
(including travelling time to and from the place of the duty). In addition, the 
rate had been increased from the national minimum wage to the UK Living 
Wage.

 It was agreed that more information on carer’s allowances should be 
sought in a future survey.

 Key points from the Members Allowance Survey were discussed (see later 
in the report for benchmarking data) including allowances for vice-chairs, 
Health and Wellbeing Board, the one SRA guideline, the 50% SRA 
guideline and whether this was applied, assistant Cabinet Member roles 
and the public sector discount application to the calculation of the basic 
allowance.

 Other issues raised at the meeting included scope for a regional 
remuneration panel rather than one specific to each Local Authority and 
whether formal role descriptions for positions were used.

 Bryony Houlden from South West Councils offered to facilitate further 
annual meetings. Views would be canvassed from lead officers and Chairs 
regarding the continuation and timing of an annual meeting. 

5.0 Meeting with Group Leaders (14 November 2018) 

5.1 The Panel have always felt it important to obtain the feedback from Group 
Leaders on the current scheme and of any issues which might impact on 
allowances and, as such, a meeting was arranged for 14 November 2018. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4

https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/highlighting-political-leadership/be-councillor


10

5.2 The Panel discussed Group Leader Allowances, last years recommendations 
and also obtained feedback on the current scheme.

5.3 Group Leaders said they weren’t aware of any issues on the horizon that 
might impact on allowances in the future, but raised the issue of overnight 
allowances for London, currently at £143, which was felt to be unrealistic.

5.5 The general view was the scheme was fit for purpose.

6.0 Feedback from Members of the Council 

6.1 The Panel, again, requested general feedback from Members of the Council 
on the current scheme. Comments were mixed and included the following;

 now was not the time to consider any review of allowances;
 given the large scale and comprehensive review in to members allowances 

last year….. it was too soon and unnecessary to look at reviewing them 
again. 

 No change suggested for this year, but would welcome it being looked at 
again next year;

 after the increase in allowances last year, which was the right thing to do 
… suggest a small increase every year, so that last year’s situation of a 
larger percentage rise doesn’t happen again further down the line;

 suggest an increase on a gradual basis, rather than the large jump if it is 
left frozen each year;

 the increase last year brought Members up to date. No reason to disagree 
with the Independent Remuneration Panel for annual awards;

 Members should get a small rise, linked to the same pay award as staff;
 fine with how things currently stand;
 after the increase for Members last year, as there had not been one for 

many years, this can seem controversial, in a time of restricted budgets. It 
would be better for a small increase, year by year, in line with what officers 
receive; and

 the Panel to note the changes to the Devon Pension Board schedule of 
meetings (from 2 to 4 meetings per year) to mirror that of the Investment 
and Pension Fund Committee;

6.2 The Panel wished to place on record their thanks and appreciation to those 
Members who contributed their views. The comments received were helpful to 
the Panel in formulating both the Report and the recommendations. 

7.0 Devolution Agenda 

7.1 The Panel had noted over its last three reviews that Government had invited 
all local authorities in England to develop their own local proposals as part of a 
move towards the greater devolution of powers and budgets. 

7.2 Since August 2015, Devon and Somerset County Councils, all Somerset and 
Devon Districts, Torbay Council, Plymouth City Council, Dartmoor and 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



11

Exmoor National Parks, the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and the three 
Clinical Commissioning Groups had worked in partnership to progress 
towards securing a devolution deal for the Heart of the South West (HotSW) 
area focusing on delivering improved productivity. Since that time the 
partnership has continued to progress its objectives despite policy shifts at a 
national level. 

7.3 In 2017, the Council gave approval to the establishment of a HotSW Joint 
Committee and the necessary constitutional arrangements and inter-authority 
agreement to support the Joint Committee.  

7.4 The General Election saw a shift on the national policy position.  In late 2017, 
the partnership was given a clear message that Government would welcome a 
bid from the partnership to progress productivity ambitions by identifying areas 
where it could work together with Government and more importantly, the 
Minister indicated there was no requirement to have an Elected Mayor. 

7.5 The key role of the HotSW Joint Committee is to develop, agree and ensure 
the implementation of the Productivity Strategy, which would be a common 
vision for increased prosperity through economic growth informed by a local 
evidence base and engagement with local stakeholders. This proposal was 
approved in December 2017.

7.6 There has also been an officer group established to consider the implications 
of Brexit, particularly looking at the opportunities that it presents, as well as 
Member Development sessions across the Heart of the South West to learn 
more about Devolution and contribute to proposals.

7.7 The work of the Joint Committee is ongoing and there is a Report being taken 
through each of the Councils of the Constituent authorities to amend the terms 
of reference for the Joint Committee to reflect their role in the Local Industrial 
Strategy in addition to the Joint Productivity Strategy – making careful note 
that, under Government guidance, the Local Enterprise Partnership and the 
Government own the document and also to approve funding for the support of 
the Joint Committee.

7.8 The Panel agreed to keep a watching brief on the situation for any impact on 
allowances. To date, there has been no impact. 

8.0 Comparisons and Benchmarking 

8.1 The Panel considered the recent (2018) SW Councils survey on allowances. 
Following the increase in Members allowances last year, the rate of basic 
allowance paid in Devon was at the top of the survey data when compared to 
other South West Shire Counties. This improvement was pleasing to the 
Panel as Devon’s position had dropped to the mid to lower ranges, which was 
a cause for concern given the population of Devon is significantly higher than 
in those other Shire Counties. As an example, Dorset County Council paid a 
basic allowance of £10,641 and Somerset County Council paid £10,582.

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



12

8.2 The Panel also considered the South East Councils survey on allowances. 
The rate of basic allowances ranged (from the top) from £12,805 for Kent 
County Council and £12,443 for Surrey County Council, down to the lowest of 
£10,201 for Oxfordshire County Council. Mid-range was Buckinghamshire 
County Council, East Sussex County and West Sussex County Council at 
£11,063, £11,191 and £11,251 respectively.

8.3 The Panel also took the data from the South West Survey and the South East 
Survey and assessed the allowance per head of population. 

The Panel noted that reviewing the allowances in this way showed that Devon 
was again one of the lowest in the South West. 

8.4 The Panel previously undertook a large scale review in which they considered 
how the Basic Allowance had been calculated to ensure it was still fit for 
purpose. The calculation was the average non manual daily rate, less 33% for 
the public service ethos. As the data was no longer collected, the Panel 
researched other baselines, which included one used by Cheltenham Borough 
Council (median salary for the South West) and a calculation which had been 
determined by Surrey’s IRP (median salary level for full time white collar 
workers resident in Surrey, with a 33% discount as the voluntary element and 
the time commitment of the role as 18 hours per week (0.5 FTE)) which gave 
a Basic Allowance of £13,191.

Council Name Population Basic Allowance 
for 2018/19

Per Head of 
Population

Devon County Council 765 300 £12,607 £0.016

Gloucestershire County 
Council 628,139 £10,100 £0.016

Somerset County Council 550,000 £10,795 £0.019

Council Name Population Basic Allowance 
for 2014/15

Per Head of 
Population

Buckinghamshire County 
Council

528,400 11,063
£0.02

East Sussex 534,000 11,191 £0.02
Hampshire County Council 1,353,000 12,003 £0.008

Kent County Council 1.4 million 12,805 £0.009
Oxfordshire County 

Council
666,100 10,201

£0.015
Surrey County Council 1,170,000 12,443 £0.010
West Sussex County 

Council
800,000 11,251

£0.014

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



13

8.5 The Panel applied this Surrey methodology to Devon, but using the Median 
gross weekly earnings for full-time employees in Devon for 2018.

1£25,844 less 233% (£8,529) = £17,315 ……….. X 3 0.72 = £12,467

1 median gross weekly earnings for full-time employees in Devon 2018…Office for National Statistics 
(ONS)
2 public service discount
3 adjustment for full-time equivalent – using DCC figures from National Census of 26.6 hours

8.6 The allowance for Devon (if calculated in this manner) made the basic rate 
£12,467. Given the current allowance of £12,607 which included the LGA 
median wage rise (up until April 2010) and staff pay increases (from April 
2011), the Panel were satisfied that the calculation used was fit for purpose.

8.7 The Panel also felt it prudent to use the most recent data available, so utilised 
the National Census Data, extracting the figures submitted by Members of 
Devon County Council. The Panel noted they would have more updated 
information next year, as the National Census Data Survey was being 
undertaken in the new year. 

8.8 The Panel reiterated their concern over the number of ‘twin trackers’ (where a 
Councillor is a Member of more than one Authority), in view of the implications 
for workload. With Elections in May 2013, the figure was 39 Councillors out of 
the 60 who were on District Council as well as the County Council (65%). After 
the last Elections in 2017, the number was 41 out of 62, (66%) so the situation 
remains largely unchanged. The Council is still a fair way away from the figure 
of 50% seen in 2009 – 2013. This problem is exacerbated when Members are 
also Parish Councillors. The Panel noted that reminders were regularly issued 
to Members regarding care when making expenses claims.

8.9 The Panel also wanted to revisit the expenses rates for overnight stays in 
London and Members felt the revised rate was still not fit for purpose. 
Members considered a number of other benchmarks, for example the London 
rate for judiciary, which was currently lower than the County Councils and also 
the average daily rate for London for 2017 as calculated by Price Waterhouse 
Cooper. This figure was £149.00. The Panel also wanted the disparity 
between overnight allowances for both Members and staff to be noted. They 
further noted however, that there was flexibility within the staff policy that in 
exceptional circumstances, and where authorisation is given to an individual 
employee by their manager, additional expenditure supported by a receipt 
may be claimed.

9.0 Fawcett Report and LGA Response

9.1 The Panel had previously considered the Fawcett report which had looked at 
Local Government in detail, in particular, the aspects and stages of the 
process from becoming a candidate for Election through to becoming a 
Leader of a Council. The Report made a series of recommendations that 
would help bring more women into local government and help play a full role 
at all levels. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



14

9.2 Whilst there were many recommendations relating to improving women’s 
representation in Local Government, for example and inter alia, political 
parties setting targets for increasing women’s representation at local elections, 
term limits for Councillors, reasonable adjustment policies for disabled 
Councillors, a review of how Councillor performance is assessed and 
challenging racism, the Panel focused upon the Report’s consideration of 
‘Removing Structural Barriers to Progress’ which highlighted concerns over 
the historic male domination of town halls which have not supported women, 
who still have the bulk of caring responsibilities. It was reported that female 
Councillors experienced patchy provision for maternity, childcare and flexible 
working.

9.3 The Report wanted to see the introduction of maternity, paternity and parental 
leave entitlements for Councillors across England, in line with leave available 
to employees. Also, that childcare and caring costs must be covered, thereby 
asking the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government to issue 
guidance to Independent Remuneration Panels to promote their proposed 
model for a comprehensive dependent carers’ allowance scheme so all 
childcare and adult dependent care costs were covered. The Report further 
recommended that the law needed to change so that Councillors’ childcare 
expenses were reported separately to the main Members’ Allowances data, so 
that reporting of them did not deter women from claiming support. 

9.4 Further recommended by the Report was to legalise the remote attendance at 
Council meetings and use technology to support inclusion, including issues 
such as voting rights, through Skype or other technological solutions as well 
as consulting on meeting times to better suit the needs of those with caring 
responsibilities. 

9.5 Responding to the Fawcett Society Report, Cllr Marianne Overton, Vice Chair 
of the Local Government Association, said that the Report rightly identified 
that progress must be made at a faster pace to ensure a greater 
representation of women in our local authorities saying;

“It is vital that local government better reflects the communities we 
represent and is inclusive in order to have the best skills and make the 
best possible decisions. The LGA is leading the ‘Be A Councillor’ 
campaign. This year, our main focus of the campaign is to encourage 
women and under-represented groups to stand for election and help shape 
local councils to best support our communities. Councils also remain 
committed to ensuring that once elected, women also have an equal 
opportunity to become leaders in their councils.

Local government must be at the forefront of driving change, but it will be 
important to get the balance right between changing culture and imposing 
structures. Change will also require all political parties and Independents to 
fully engage and support a wide range of aspiring councillors.  

Among other things, we are also supporting the Women’s Local 
Government Society’s project who have identified 100 pioneers in 
women’s suffrage, women who went on to use their elected positions and 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



15

their votes to bring tangible benefits to their communities. The project 
celebrates the 2018 centenary of some women being able to stand and 
vote for their MP. It is an opportunity to inspire a new generation of women 
councillors and civic activists. The LGA have recently gone out to tender 
for the development of a self-assessment equalities toolkit which will be 
developed this autumn.”

10.0 Councillor Commission Research

10.1 The Panel previously received a briefing note on the interim report of the 
Councillor Commission Research which was to independently review the role 
and work of the Councillor (being undertaken by the Local Governance 
Research Unit, based at Leicester Business School).

10.2 The Commission, chaired by Colin Copus, (Professor of Local Politics, De 
Montfort University) had the following terms of reference:

“To explore and consider the roles, functions, tasks, responsibilities and 
powers of the Councillor so as to assess their relevance and effectiveness 
in enabling Councillors to sustain a viable system of local democracy, local 
leadership and local government’

It was noted that the Association of Democratic Services Officers (ADSO) 
contributed to the Commission’s work.

10.3 The Panel noted that the interim report had not mentioned allowances 
specifically except a small reference that appeared in the final version of the 
Report, reflecting various opposing views as previously expressed in Devon 
as part of the exit interviews:

Councillors are overseeing multi-million pound budgets; we are balancing 
complex financial pressures; we are making decisions that will affect our 
areas for decades to come; I saw somewhere that local government has 132 
different responsibilities (or something like that) – how many private 
companies have that range of products or interests? We have to work with 
leaders of industry and public bodies on salaries of two or three hundred 
thousand pounds and we are on peanuts and they know it; we work with 
officers paid much more than Councillors and they know it – the way we are 
paid, just doesn’t reflect the reality of what we do (Conservative County 
Councillor). 

10.4 On the other hand, the research found that there was a strong current of 
opinion opposed to increases in allowances or a radical change in the system 
of remuneration. A view held by some Councillors was that remuneration 
should be kept to a level that didn’t recognise a Councillor as an occupation or 
profession: 

Please resist the temptation to propose increases in Councillors’ pay and 
allowances as this will add to the risk that Councillors become political 
professionals. Councillors’ remuneration should not be a living wage. If 
Councillors are to be part of the towns or districts they represent, if they are to 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



16

understand the lives of their electors, and even mix with them at work, far 
better that they should work in the same places as them and experience the 
real world of employment (Conservative Borough Councillor). 

10.5 The two sets of competing views are difficult to reconcile and the question of 
suitable forms of Councillor remuneration has troubled previous inquiries over 
the years. The Report recommended an investigation into the nature of the 
remuneration system appropriate for the demands made on Councillors, 
including increasing workloads and the professionalisation of the role.

10.6 The final Report ‘The Voice of the Councillor’ was published in October 2017 
and confirmed that, now more than ever, there needed to be support for 
Councillors in the work they undertake in representing and governing their 
communities and in engaging with the public. 

10.7 The Report felt that ‘local democracy’ was being undertaken ‘on the cheap’ 
and even among many Councillors there was reluctance to spend public 
money on ensuring Councillors have the support and resources they need.

10.8 There were three things that were needed: 

i. Councils needed to recognise the legitimate role all Councillors 
have in governing their communities and provide the resources and 
support for them to carry that out. This should not be confined to the 
Leader and Cabinet, but available to all Members (all Councillors 
have a role in enabling, co-ordinating and bringing communities 
together);

ii. Westminster, Whitehall, Government and Civil Service needed to 
see Councillors as a vital part of the governing fabric of the country. 
Councillors are elected and therefore have a legitimacy and an 
immediacy to communities. Devolution must recognise the 
democratic mandate of localities and see governing power, not just 
more functions and tasks, passed to Councillors.

iii. the research revealed that Councillors were interacting in complex, 
multi-layered networks of public and private agencies (with differing 
goals, different territorial areas etc). There is a myriad of 
organisations that spend public money, develop policy and impact 
on the wellbeing of communities but all of whom lack the unique 
feature of the Councillor (with an electoral mandate). Local 
Government must organise itself to support its Councillors in these 
processes as it is through interactions with external agencies that 
local government can govern and achieve the best results for the 
communities they serve.

10.9 The author of the commission reported at the November 2017 Association of 
Democratic Services Officers conference, outlining that more work needed to 
be done on remuneration issues as well as a more detailed study on time 
commitments to being a Councillor. 

10.10 To date there have been no further details received. 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



17

11.0 National Census of Local Authority Councillors 2013 and 2018

11.1 The above study was previously carried out every two years to provide a 
comprehensive snapshot of local government representation and analysis of 
trends over time. The census asks Councillors about their work as Councillors, 
their views on a range of issues and also their personal background. The last 
study was carried out in 2013 so an update on the current position is overdue. 
This was of course alluded to by the author of ‘The Voice of the Councillor’ as 
outlined at paragraph 10.9. 

11.2 The Council recently received notification that a new survey was being carried 
out in the new year. Whilst the new census wouldn’t be completed in time for 
this review it would however be detailed in next year’s review. 

11.3 Whilst the data was considered by the Panel in last three reports, the 2013 
survey results are the latest available nationally, so it is appropriate to include 
the analysis as part of this years report also.

11.4 The key findings were presented in three sections, work as a Councillor, 
issues and views of Councillors and personal background of Councillors. Just 
for clarity, the figures outlined in the remainder of paragraph 11 are national 
averages, taken from the actual report.

11.5 In relation to work as a Councillor……………  

 the average length of service of Councillors in their current council was 9.5 
years, similar to that seen in 2010 (9.4 years). This was approximately one 
year longer than the average service length reported between 2004 and 
2008 (8.3 years), showing a small but sustained increase in the average 
length of service;

 just over half of Councillors (53%) held at least one position in the 
authority;

 on average, Councillors were members of 3.3 committees or sub-
committees, again showing a slight decrease in the proportion seen since 
2001 (ranging from 3.8 to 3.6);

 around a third of Councillors (35.9%) were members of local partnership 
groups or boards, most commonly a Health and Wellbeing Board (9.3%);

 Councillors reported spending an average of 25.1 hours per week on 
council and group/ party business (compared to between 22.0 hours and 
22.7 hours in 2004–2010). When broken down, it could be seen that 
Councillors spent the majority of this time on council business (20.8 hours 
on average) and a much smaller proportion of time on group/party 
business (4.3 hours on average);

 over a third of Councillors (39.4%) were members of other public bodies 
such as parish or town councils;

 the proportion of Councillors that received one or more training 
opportunities peaked in 2008 at 93.7% but has since fallen to 85.0%; and

 the majority of Councillors had access to resources such as a council 
email address, a PC, laptop or tablet, and a tool to enable remote log-in or 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



18

access to their council’s computer system. Fewer Councillors had access 
to a Smartphone or mobile phone, access to telephone conferencing, a 
Blog, a Twitter account, Facebook page or YouTube. Councillors rated a 
PC, laptop or tablet, a council email address and a Smartphone as the 
most useful resources. 

11.6 In relation to the issues and views of Councillors ……… 

 between 2004 and 2013, Councillors responded very similarly in terms of 
their reasons for seeking this role. In 2013, 90% became councillors in 
order to ‘serve the community’, 58.7% did so ‘to change things’ and 54.4% 
were motivated by their ‘political beliefs’;

 overall 69.8% of Councillors believed the most important thing they did 
was listening to the views of local people. A similar proportion (64.8%) 
believed that representing local residents’ views to the council was the 
most important thing;

 most Councillors (81.5%) anticipated they would be able to continue their 
role to some extent without their current benefits package, although 18.9% 
would only be able to do so to a small extent and 14.8% would not at all;

 overall, 41.4% of Councillors thought they had more influence to change 
their local area than they expected prior to being elected, while 35.7% had 
about as much influence as they expected;

 four-fifths of Councillors (82.4%) would recommend the role of Councillor 
to others if asked; and

 Councillors’ intention to stand for re-election has strengthened. In previous 
censuses, around half stated that they would stand for re-election, 
whereas around two-thirds did so in 2008 and 2013.

11.7 In relation to the personal background of Councillors …………….

 Councillors’ gender profile, ethnic origin, disability status and caring 
responsibilities have changed very little between 2001 and 2013. In 2013, 
67.3% of Councillors were male (70.7% in 2001), 96% were of white ethnic 
origin (97.3% in 2001), 13.2% had a long-term health problem or disability 
and 27.9% had one or more caring responsibilities; 

 Councillors had an average age of 60.2 in 2013, similar to 59.7 recorded in 
2010, and up a little from 57.8 in 2004. Around one in eight (12%) were 
aged under-45, a proportion which has changed little since 2004. The 
proportion aged 70 or over has increased from 13.8% to 22.2% over this 
period;

 the proportions of retired Councillors have increased slightly year-on-year 
from 36.8% in 2001 to 46.6% in 2013. At the same time, the proportion of 
Councillors in full-time employment has decreased steadily from 27.2% in 
2001 to 19.2% this year, whereas there has been very little variation in the 
proportions of Councillors who are self-employed or work part-time 
between 2001 and 2013;  

 two-thirds of Councillors (66.6%) held other voluntary or unpaid positions 
such as school governorships (37.2%); and

 the proportion of Councillors whose highest qualification is degree level or 
equivalent rose from 50.2% in 2004 to 58.8% in 2013. Conversely, the 

Page 18

Agenda Item 4



19

proportion of Councillors with no qualifications has steadily fallen since 
2004 (from 14% to 5.2%).

11.8 Devon has many of the same issues as other Authorities in terms of attracting 
younger members. Whilst Devon has some younger Councillors, (and a small 
number have been in Cabinet positions), the majority are over retirement age. 

11.9 The age / gender profile of Devon’s Councillors was gathered after the 2017 
elections and is highlighted below.

11.10 The Panel have been concerned over the gender / age split, demonstrating 
the need to consider a scheme of allowances to attract a more diverse Council 
for the future.  Whilst the allowances were raised in 2018, the Panel do not 
wish to see a return to the position where they have been allowed to become 
‘out of kilter’ once again.

12.0 Member Development Charter Status Plus 

12.1 As part of the Panel’s interest in Member training and development and 
performance management issues, the Panel have always been supportive of 
the Council’s initiatives such as competency frameworks, appraisals and 
personal assessments of Members Learning and Development needs and had 
congratulated the Council on its re-accreditation of Charter status at Charter-
Plus level for Member Development in 2016.

Councillor Gender/Age Profile of Devon County Council - 
2017

Age 
Group Male Female Totals
Under 
30 0 0 0

30-39 2 (3%) 1 (2%) 3 (5%)

40-49 3 (5%) 2 (3%) 5 (8%)

50-59 9 (15%) 5 (8%) 14 (23%)

60-69 16 (27%) 7 (12%) 23 (38%)
70 and 
over 12 (20%) 3 (5%) 15 (25%)

Totals 42 (70%) 18 (30%) 60 (100%)

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



20

12.2 The feedback from South West Councils in that assessment had said there 
were a number of areas of excellent practice in Devon and that…..

……….‘it was great to see the continuous improvement in the way that 
Members are supported and the strong working relationship between 
Members and Officers’.

12.3 The assessment found an ethos of continuous professional development 
inherent throughout the Council and a willingness by the Councillors to ensure 
their skills, knowledge and understanding are up-to-date so that they can fulfil 
their role successfully. There was strong evidence that Member Development 
had become part of the fabric of the way the Council works and this is an 
ongoing process. 

12.4 The Assessors were also impressed by the progress in making Scrutiny a 
positive and constructive process which was helping the Cabinet and Council 
to develop more effective policy making. In addition, the cultural shift that had 
taken place as the Council had to look to others to deliver services, requiring 
Councillors to be supported to increase their community engagement skills. 
Scrutiny had also raised its profile over the last 12 months, culminating in 
‘scrutiny symposium’ celebrating 20 years of scrutiny at Devon County 
Council.

12.5 Whilst the Panel feel the County and its Members embraced the ethos of 
training and development and that the training processes also seemed 
excellent for individuals, they still continue to feel that improvements could be 
made, especially around the appraisal of Members by Group Leaders and 
performance management tools.

13.0 Summary, Conclusions and Recommendations

13.1 The Panel has concluded that the structure of the Allowance Scheme for 
Devon is fit for purpose and based on sound principles, and that the Basic 
Allowance should be increased in line with the staff pay award.  

13.2 The Panel has conducted a wide-ranging review, taking into account the usual 
benchmarking data, organisational structures, the impact of Devolution, 
Cabinet Member Remits, the Councillors’ Commission report, the views of 
Members and other relevant factors.

13.3 Up until 2017, the Panel had consistently recommended increases in the 
Basic Allowance, with corresponding increases in the level of SRAs and the 
recommendations had not been implemented, hence the level of allowances 
in Devon had fallen behind. The Panel were pleased that in 2018, the Council 
listened to their recommendations and their strong evidence base to increase 
the Basic Allowance.

Page 20

Agenda Item 4



21

13.4 Taking into account the evidence available and for the reasons set out above, 
the panel recommends that:

(a) The basic structure of the current scheme is endorsed and retained;

(b) From May 2019, the Basic Allowance is increased to £12,859 (which 
includes the agreed 2% pay award for 2019) and the multipliers be 
recalculated accordingly. (See Appendix 1 for revised figures);

(note: £12,859 is the allowance rate for 2018 uprated in line with the 2% staff pay 
award)

(c) that the overnight rate for London be increased to £149.00, in line with the 
rates calculated by Price Waterhouse Cooper for the average daily rate 
(ADR) for London 

(d) Careful consideration should be given, in the future, to the levels of 
allowances to ensure they keep pace with the economy generally;

(e) The sustained reduction in the number of SRA's be welcomed and that the 
levels be kept below the 50% threshold, as is currently the case;

(f) The Panel keep a watching brief on the Devolution / Combined Authority 
Agenda to assess any impact on allowances; 

(g) Current procedures for performance management could be strengthened 
and that Group Leaders take a robust approach to the performance 
management of their Members.

13.5 The panel would like to thank everyone who has contributed to this review, 
Stephanie Lewis (Deputy Democratic Services and Scrutiny Manager), and 
Karen Strahan (Democratic Services and Scrutiny Manager), who provided 
administrative support.

HM/BH/SB
February 2019

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



22

Appendix 1

Panels Recommended Allowances from May 2019 

Role Multiplier Amount
(from May 2019)

Basic N/A £12,859
Leader 2.5 £32,148
Deputy 2.0 £25,718
Cabinet 1.5 £19,289
Chair Scrutiny 0.73 £ 9,387  
Vice Chair Scrutiny 0.365 £ 4,694
Chair of Council 0.8 £10,287
Vice-Chair of Council 0.2785 £ 3,581
Chair – Development 0.5 £ 6,429
Vice Chair – Development 0.25 £ 3,215
Chair, Appeals  0.25 £ 3,215
Chair, Investment / Pension 0.5 £ 6,429
Chair, Farms Estate 0.25 £ 3,215
Chair, Public Rights of Way 0.25 £ 3,215
Chair, Procedures  0.25 £ 3,215
Chair, Standards 0.25 £ 3,215
Chair, Audit 0.25 £ 3,215
*Leader, LD (7) 0.5 £ 6,429
*Leader, Labour (7) 0.5 £ 6,429
*Leader, Independent (4) 0.25 £ 3,215

* A multiplier of 1.0 for Groups more than 20% of the Councils size (therefore 12 or more members);
* A multiplier of 0.50 for groups between 10% and 20% (therefore 6 or more Members (up to 11 Members);
* A multiplier of 0.25 for groups of less than 10% (2-5 Members)

Page 22

Agenda Item 4



CSO/19/5
Procedures Committee

4 February 2019

Report of the County Solicitor

Recommendation 

To consider the proposals as outlined at Section 5 of the Report and consider whether any changes 
are required to the current procedures. 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Committee is asked to consider the current process for Notices of Motion submitted to 
the Council and the associated reporting back mechanism and consider whether any 
changes to the Council’s Standing Orders are required in light of practices in other Local 
Authorities.

2. Current Process 

2.1 The current process for submitting and debating motions is outlined below.

(1) A member who wishes to place a motion on the agenda of a meeting of the Council 
must give notice, in writing, to the Chief Executive by 9.00am on the eighth working day 
before the meeting of the Council at which it is to be considered. The Chief Executive 
will keep a record of all such motions received which may be inspected by any member 
of the Council.

This standing order does not apply to motions which can be moved without written 
notice in accordance with standing order 11.

(2) All motions submitted under this standing order will be set out on the agenda for the 
meeting of the Council in the order they were received. A motion may only be withdrawn 
— in writing — by the member who originally submitted it.

(3) A motion which has been placed on the agenda must be formally moved at the meeting 
of the Council by the member who submitted it or, with his/her written consent, by 
another member. If it is not moved it will be regarded as withdrawn unless the Council 
agrees to postpone it. 

(4) The mover may if the Council agrees, without discussion, alter a motion provided that 
the alteration could have been made as an amendment under standing order 14(7).

(5) The Council shall only consider a motion if it relates to some matter on which the 
Council has powers or duties or which directly affects the County as a whole.

(6) At any ordinary meeting of the Council, a motion shall, after being formally moved and 
seconded, be passed to the Cabinet. There will then be no discussion on the motion at 
that meeting of the Council.

If the motion is on a matter for which the Cabinet has no remit, then it shall be passed to the 
relevant Committee (Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) 
Regulations 2000).

Please note that the following recommendation is subject to consideration and 
determination by the Committee before taking effect.

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



However, and subject also to standing orders 9 and 29, the Council may decide to discuss a 
motion at the meeting to which it is submitted if, in its view, there is sufficient reason to do 
so.

2.2 When the Cabinet minute / recommendation comes back to the Council meeting as part of 
the consideration / determination of the Notice of Motion, this is currently treated as an 
amendment. This amendment is voted upon, which then becomes the substantive motion 
and at that point further amendments can be submitted and the usual rules of debate apply. 

2.3 An amendment must relate to a motion. It can refer the subject of debate to a Committee for 
consideration or re- consideration, leave out words, insert or add others, but must not 
introduce a substantially new proposal or give effect to the direct opposite of what was 
proposed in the original motion. In addition, when an amendment is carried, any further 
amendment must follow the advice above and not revert to the wording of the original 
motion.

2.4 In relation to (5) above, the current guidance is that the Council shall only consider a motion 
if it relates to some matter on which the Council has powers or duties or which directly 
affects the County as a whole. 

2.5 Over the last several years the Council has increasingly been asked to debate and consider 
Motions over which the Council has varying levels of control, sometimes even no control 
which could be due to Government policy or they relate to other organisations and how they 
might operate.

3. Other Authorities 

3.1 Most Authorities require Notices of Motion in advance of the Council meeting. This Council 
is eight working days but some can be as many as 10 clear working days (for example 
Torbay Council and Somerset County Council).

3.2 Many also make the distinction between Executive functions and will refer Motions to the 
most appropriate decision making body, for example Torbay Council clearly define 
Executive and Council notice of motions and the Council will only debate those motions 
which relate to Council functions. 

3.3 As another example, Mid Devon District Council refer any Motion that comes within the 
province of the Cabinet or any other Committee, without debate, to the Cabinet or such 
Committee or Committees, or to such other Committee or Committees as the Council may 
determine, for consideration and report; 

The mover of the Motion is invited to that meeting to amplify the Motion, but without any 
right to vote, unless they are Member of that Committee.  

The Motion is only debated on the day if the Chair considers it convenient and conducive to 
the despatch of business.

3.4 Also there is a presumption in some authorities that Notices of Motion which relate to 
Executive functions either do not come back to the Council at all (for example North Devon 
District Council) or the determination of the Notice of Motion is simply announced by the 
Leader at the Council meeting with no further opportunity for debate (e.g. Cornwall County 
Council).

3.5 What does appear to be clear is that Motions are either submitted with a longer lead in time, 
for example 10 working days, to allow time to provide the Cabinet / Cabinet Members with 
background information in advance of meeting, or like the practice in Cornwall, that any 
motions debated on the day is only when there are no significant financial / legal / 
constitutional implications or where detailed background information is needed. 

Page 24

Agenda Item 5



4. Motions Subject Matter

4.1 There have been suggestions of late that many Motions are outside of the remit of the 
Council, for example Government Policy or private sector organisations over which the 
Council has no control. 

4.2 In a climate of diminishing officer resources, Members are asked to consider whether they 
wish to tighten the scope for submission of Motions. There is also a danger that the large 
numbers of Motions can ‘swamp’ other important decisions that the Council needs to make. 
As an example the budget meeting in February 2019 will be considering its budget 
alongside eight notices of motion coming back to the meeting for debate and determination. 

4.3 As background information, attached at Appendix 1 is a list of all Motions submitted to the 
Council over the last three years and Members may have a view on those Motions which 
have the potential to influence or otherwise.

5. Suggestions for Change 

Scope of Motions

5.1 The current scope for the submission of Motions is highlighted below. 

The Council shall only consider a motion if it relates to some matter on which the Council 
has powers or duties or which directly affects the County as a whole

5.2 If Members felt the current description was too wide, for example the aspect which refers to 
‘which directly affects the County as a whole’ which tends to be a catch all for any subject 
matter. There is opportunity to amend the current definition and one suggestion is that 
Motions must relate to services the Council provides, commissions, or formally contributes 
to, financially or otherwise through partnership working. 

5.3 If a potential motion does not meet this requirement, the Monitoring Officer could have 
delegated authority, in consultation with the Chair of Council, to determine whether or not a 
motion is presented to a meeting of the Council.

5.4 Whilst this might appear to be reducing the number of motions debated by the Council, there 
is also the opportunity to have a bigger impact with those motions submitted.

Formally Moving Motions at Council 

5.5 Currently, there is no provision for Members to speak on their Motion when it is first 
presented to the Council. The motion is, after being formally moved and seconded, passed 
to the Cabinet and there is no discussion. The mover of the Motion may, under Standing 
Order 6(6), ask the Council to debate their Motion on the day, but may then speak briefly to 
justify dealing with it on the day, not to speak about the subject matter itself.

5.6 Members may wish to revisit Standing Orders to permit the mover, after the Motion has 
been formally moved and seconded, to speak for up to three minutes to explain the reason 
for the submission of the Motion. It is then referred without any further discussion by other 
Members to the Cabinet or other relevant Committee.  

5.7 Currently Standing Orders state that the mover of a motion or an amendment has 7 minutes. 
Under the current process, with motions being automatically referred, the 7 minutes is never 
utilised at that time. The seven minutes are permitted when the motion comes back to the 
Council, but when the mover has already had the opportunity to speak at Cabinet, Members 
may wish to consider if that time limit is excessive. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



Motions coming back to the Council 

5.8 Currently, when Motions come back to the Council for determination, they are treated as an 
amendment. The Cabinet minute if formally moved and seconded, is then voted upon. If 
carried, this becomes the substantive motion, and at that point other amendments can be 
submitted and then the usual rules of debate apply. 

5.9 Members may wish to reconsider this current process. Whilst referring Motions to the 
Cabinet or other Committee works well, how the recommendations coming back from the 
Cabinet are treated could be revisited. 

5.10 A suggestion for moving forward is that the view of the Cabinet or other Committee will be 
published in the Council agenda, as is currently the case, but this is to act as a steer for the 
Council from the decision making body. The normal rules of debate will apply to the Motion 
and votes will be taken on the motion at the end of any debate. If Members do not agree 
with the Motion they can simply vote it down. Of course, at any stage the Cabinet Member 
or indeed any other Member could suggest / move an amendment, but the advice coming 
back from the Cabinet is simply that (advice) and not binding on the Council in any way.

6. Conclusion / Summary

6.1 This Report is intended to present a series of options for revising the ‘motions’ process. 
Members are asked to consider the suggestions for change as outlined in Section 5 in 
relation to the scope of motions, how motions are formally moved and then how they are 
dealt with when they come back to the Council. 

7. Financial considerations

7.1 No financial implications have been identified.

8. Risk management considerations

8.1 No unimaginable risks have been identified.

9. Equality, Environmental Impact and Public Health Considerations.

9.1 No equality, environmental impact or public health implications have been identified.

JAN SHADBOLT

Electoral Divisions: All

Local Government Act 1972: List of Background Papers: 
None
Contact for enquiries: Karen Strahan 2264
Room No: G31, County Hal

Page 26

Agenda Item 5



Appendix 1

Date Motions submitted 

Devon County Council and Fracking 
British Sign Language 
Devon's Housing Need 
Brexit Referendum and Economic Impacts 
Heart of the South West Local Enterprise Partnership Joint Scrutiny 
Committee 
Fair and Adequate Funding to Local Authorities 
Police Funding 

6 December 2018

Declare a Climate Emergency 

Devon and Cornwall Police and Dorset Police Merger4 October 2018
Children's Bed Poverty

Outsourcing and Devon County Council Contracts 
Badger Culling and DCC Property 
Dorset & East Devon National Park 
Road Repairs and Skansa Contract 
Community Hospital Buildings 

19 July 2018

Universal Credit 

Neonicotinoid Insecticides
Traffic on A35 at Wilmington
Gender Pay Gap in Devon
Adult Social Care Sector - Workforce Issues
Grammar Schools and Additional Funding
Scrutiny Call-in and Meeting Timescales 
Customs Union and Sarah Wollaston MP Campaign

24 May 2018

Stagecoach Southwest and Increased Fares

Accountable Care Systems 15 February 2018
‘Sunset for the Royal Marines’ and Future Resilience 

Southwestern Railways Consultation - New Timetables 
EU Law - Animal Sentience 
Pension Funds and Fossil Fuel Companies 
Post-Brexit Arrangements - Membership of the European Single Market and 
Customs Union 

7 December 2017

Council Budgets - Vulnerable Young and Elderly Residents 

Plastic Free Coastlines 
Health and Adult Care Scrutiny - Community Role and Safeguarding Future 
Buildings and Place Based Health Services 
National Funding Formula for Schools 
Ethical Care Council 
20 MPH Speed Limits

5 October 2017

Plastic Free Coastlines 

Paris Accord on Climate Change
Outturn Surplus and Re-allocation of Funds

20 July 2017

Police & Crime Commissioner

25 May 2017 N/A

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



Royal Marines and Royal Navy Service Cuts27 Apr 2017 
NHS in Devon - Public Enquiry

European Union Habitats Regulations
South West Local Enterprise Partnership - Chief Executive Pay

16 February 2017

Anti Litter Campaigns - Deposit Scheme for Plastic Bottles

School Funding8 Dec 2016 
Pension 'Triple Lock'

Educational Re-organisation and Fair Funding
Proposed Cuts to Devon Health Services and Impacts on Patients
NHS Success Regime
Protecting Devon's Pharmacies
Environmental Policy Document Review

6 Oct 2016 

Affordable Housing and the HOTSW Devolution Prospectus

Hate Crime
Transitional State Pension Arrangements for Women
Term Time Leave and Fines for Parents

28 Jul 2016 

Planning Advice from Council Officers

Protecting Devon's School Crossing Patrol Service
Education Excellence Everywhere
Local Government Association and Academisation of Schools
Flood Alleviation and Investment

12 May 2016

Barnstaple Park and Ride

18 Feb 2016 Tax Avoidance and Procurement Procedures
Guaranteeing our Rail Future: Honouring the Promise to Devon

Page 28

Agenda Item 5



CSO/19/3
Procedures Committee

6 February 2019

Heart of the South West (HotSW) Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) Joint 
Scrutiny Committee – Notice of Motion 

Report of the County Solicitor 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Notice of Motion submitted to the County Council by the Councillor shown 
below have been referred to this Committee in accordance with Standing Order 8(2) - for 
consideration and to make a recommendation back to the Council.  

1.2 A factual ‘Briefing Note/Position Statement’ prepared by the County Solicitor 
is included below to facilitate the Committees discussion of the Notice of Motion. 

2. Notice of Motion on the Scrutiny Committee (Local Enterprise Partnership) 
from (Councillor Biederman) 

This County Council welcomes the fact that the Heart of the South West Local 
Enterprise Partnership Joint Scrutiny Committee has now met, but believes that for 
effective scrutiny to take place:

(1) two of the Council's four places on the Committee should be made available to 
opposition groups from next May;

(2) there should be an opportunity for the Non-Aligned Group to be represented from 
time to time;

(3) an opportunity for public participation should be provided;

(4) proceedings should be webcast.   

3. Briefing Note / Position Statement from the County Solicitor  

3.1 The Mary Ney report, Review of Local Enterprise Partnership Governance & 
Transparency, was commissioned by the Government and published in October 2017. 
Within that Report was the advice that Scrutiny arrangements should be in place to 
monitor both the decision-making and achievements of the Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP).

3.2 The new guidance ‘Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships’ received in 
August 2018 was not detailed in terms of how any local arrangements should operate, 
but the guidance did recognise the role of local authorities in scrutinising LEPs and the 
recommendations of the Mary Ney Report.  

3.3 They key features of the guidance ‘Strengthened Local Enterprise Partnerships’ 
was on roles and responsibility, leadership and organisational capacity, accountability 
and performance, geography and also, in terms of a Scrutiny function, that LEP’s need 
to operate on organisational structures that support local decision making and provide 
greater assurance over the management of public funding. Government has said it will 
support all LEP’s to actively participate in relevant local authority Scrutiny panel 
enquiries.

Page 29

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/655188/Review_of_local_enterprise_partnership_governance_and_transparency.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/655188/Review_of_local_enterprise_partnership_governance_and_transparency.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/728058/Strengthened_Local_Enterprise_Partnerships.pdf


3.4 The aim of the Local Authorities (whose officers met to start to identify a 
solution) was to develop a proposal, independent of existing Scrutiny Committees, with 
a focus on Strategic Scrutiny of the LEP and its strategies, therefore adding value and 
meeting the Government’s requirements for LEP scrutiny.

3.5 The agreed terms of reference and operating procedures were agreed by 
Members and agreement to the proposals was reached through all four constituent 
authorities between July and September 2018. Members may recall this was discussed 
at the Council’s Procedures Committee on 4th July 2018.

3.6 The Committee provides a new joint Scrutiny function, with constituent 
authorities delegating the strategic overview of the LEP functions to the Joint Scrutiny 
Committee (not removing the right of local authorities to scrutinise matters relating to 
programme delivery that impact on the people within those communities).

3.7 The Joint Scrutiny Committee is charged with:

 The review of strategic decisions made by the LEP Board;
 The review of progress of programmes under the management of the LEP to 

identify barriers to progress, good practice and possible improvements to the 
LEP’s programme management function, notwithstanding the ability of Local 
Authorities to scrutinise individual programmes of delivery which impact on their 
communities; 

 Scrutiny of the delivery of the Strategic Economic Plan and the Productivity 
Strategy; and

 To review LEP performance and consider any comparative data the Joint 
Committee deems necessary.

3.8 In terms of Membership of the Committee, it is;  

Devon County Council (4 Members)
Plymouth City Council (2 Members)
Torbay Council (2 Members)
Somerset County Council (4 Members)
Devon Districts (3 Members)
Somerset Districts (2 Members)

3.9 In line with the requirements of the Local Government and Housing Act 1979, 
political proportionality wasn’t considered to be appropriate to apply to the collective 
membership. However, where a Council appoints three or more Members, political 
proportionality will apply to those appointments in line with the legislation.

3.10 In terms of reporting mechanisms, the Joint Committee has a direct reporting 
line to the LEP Board in relation to LEP business and this is the key line of 
accountability.   The Committee will make regular reports to the Board and may make 
recommendations to the Board. The Committee has responsibility for its own work 
programme but the LEP may also request that the Committee undertakes scrutiny of its 
activities and performance.

3.11 A key function of the Joint Scrutiny Committee is to scrutinise delivery of the 
Productivity Strategy.  The Strategy was jointly agreed by the LEP and the HotSW Joint 
Committee and will be jointly delivered.  A secondary line of reporting for the Joint 
Scrutiny Committee will therefore be to the HotSW Joint Committee and specifically in 
relation to the delivery of the Productivity Strategy.    

Page 30

Agenda Item 7

https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=157&MId=2799&Ver=4


3.12 The LEP Scrutiny Committee, when it met for the first time on 2nd November 
2018, considered the guidance (which was not prescriptive in any way), and resolved 
that the current processes in relation to Scrutiny were fit for purpose.

3.13 There was a general feeling in that first meeting that the Committee needed to 
become established, but there is a commitment to review and evaluate its operation to 
assess effectiveness, added value and consider whether any changes to its 
constitution and operation are necessary and / or appropriate. 

3.14 The Committee suggested a 12 month time scale (therefore autumn 2019), to 
give time for the Committee to settle in to its role and for the LEP’s role in the 
development and delivery of the Local Industrial Strategy and the impact of its change 
of focus on its operation and relationship with the HotSW Joint Committee to become 
clear.  

3.15 It is important to note that any changes proposed to the current model would be 
subject to the approval of the Constituent Authorities and may require wider   
consideration across the Heart of the South West Councils.

-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

This Report has no specific equality, environmental, legal or public health implications 
that will not be assessed and appropriate safeguards and/or actions taken or included 
within the detailed policies or practices or requirements in relation to the matters referred 
to herein. 

JAN SHADBOLT

[Electoral Divisions:  All]

Local Government Act 1972: List of Background Papers
Contact for Enquiries:  K Strahan 
Tel No:  01392 382264 Room: G31 
Background Paper            Date     File Reference
Nil

Page 31

Agenda Item 7




	Agenda
	4 Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel - Members Allowances
	5 Notices of Motion at Council - Consideration of Alternative Ways of Working
	7 Notice of Motion - Heart of the South West Joint Scrutiny Committee (Local Enterprise Partnership)

